

1 11/22/2022 - Riverside Solar, L.L.C. - 21-00752

2 STATE OF NEW YORK

3 OFFICE OF RENEWABLE ENERGY SITING

4 ORES DOCKET NO. 21-00752 - Draft Permit for a
5 Major Renewable Energy Facility in Towns of Lyme
6 and Brownville, Jefferson County, issued to
7 Riverside Solar, L.L.C.

8 PUBLIC STATEMENT HEARING

9 DATE: November 22, 2022 at 6:00 p.m.

10 LOCATION: Brownville Fire Department

11 121 Brown Boulevard

12 Brownville, New York

13 BEFORE: A.L.J. JOHN FAVREAU

14 A.L.J. HENRY JAMES JOSEPH

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23 Reported by Anthony McClain

24

25

1 11/22/2022 - Riverside Solar, L.L.C. - 21-00752

2 (The hearing commenced at 6:00 p.m.)

3 A.L.J. FAVREAU: All righty, we're on
4 the record here. I'd like to call ORES D.M.M. Matter
5 Number 2100752, Application of Riverside Solar,
6 L.L.C. for a siting permit for a major renewable
7 energy facility pursuant to Section 94C of the New
8 York State Executive Law to develop, design,
9 construct, operate, maintain and decommission 100
10 megawatt solar facility located in the Towns of Lyme
11 and Brownville in Jefferson County.

12 The date today is November 22nd, 2022
13 and it is now 6:01 p.m. My name is John Favreau. I
14 am the administrative law judge with the New York
15 State Office of Renewable Energy Siting or ORES.
16 That's O-R-E-S and the Office of Hearings now
17 presiding over this evening's public comment hearing
18 which is being held November 22nd, 2022 at 6 p.m. at
19 the Brownville Fire Department in Brownville, New
20 York.

21 This public comment hearing was
22 initially noticed and scheduled for Thursday,
23 November 17th. However, due to a severe lake effect
24 snowstorm, a state of emergency was issued for this
25 area and the comment hearing was postponed until

1 11/22/2022 - Riverside Solar, L.L.C. - 21-00752
2 today. Notice of this rescheduled public hearing was
3 posted at this location on November 17th and on the
4 ORES website as well as the project website and the
5 Town of Lyme website. Additionally, notice was
6 published in the Watertown Daily News on November
7 21st and the Thousand Island Sun on November 22nd and
8 mailings were sent by mail November 18th to all --
9 all persons and entities required to receive notice
10 pursuant to ORES regulations.

11 Initially, the ORES Office of Hearings
12 is an independent and impartial office within ORES
13 that is responsible for conducting adjudicatory
14 proceedings on siting permit applications before the
15 office. The Office of Hearings is separate from
16 counsel's office and the technical staff of ORES.
17 The purpose of the Office of Hearings is to conduct
18 public hearings such as this one. The purpose of
19 this hearing is to solicit public input and comment
20 on the application of Riverside Solar, L.L.C. for
21 major renewable energy facility siting permit
22 pursuant to Section 94C of the executive law to
23 develop, design, construct, operate, maintain and
24 decommission 100 megawatt solar energy facility
25 located in Lyme and Brownville, Jefferson County.

1 11/22/2022 - Riverside Solar, L.L.C. - 21-00752
2 Copies of the application materials
3 and other documents, including the office's draft
4 siting permit, are available on the office's website
5 which is at <https://www.ores.ny.gov/permit>
6 applications. Or by contacting the office by e-mail
7 at General@ores.ny.gov. A combined notice of
8 availability and draft permit conditions, public
9 comment period and public comment hearing and
10 commencement of the issues determination procedures
11 was published on the office's website on September
12 12th, 2022. The combined notice was also published
13 in the Watertown Daily Times on October 11th, 2022
14 and the Thousand Island Sun on October 12th, and the
15 Watertown Northern New York Penny Saver on October
16 14th.

17 The combined notice was also served on
18 the party list for this proceeding and all persons
19 required to receive copies of the application
20 pursuant to Regulation 19 N.Y.R.C.C. 900-1.6A and all
21 persons required to receive notice of the application
22 pursuant to 19 N.Y.C.R.R. 900-1.6C. All interested
23 persons, organizations, corporations or government
24 agencies are invited to submit either written or oral
25 statements. The purpose of today is to take oral

1 11/22/2022 - Riverside Solar, L.L.C. - 21-00752
2 statements from the public which will be incorporated
3 into the official record of this proceeding.

4 Statements are not given under oath
5 and there will be no cross examination. This is not
6 a question and answer session but an opportunity to
7 hear comments. Additionally, ORES staff and the
8 applicant are present to answer any questions you may
9 have.

10 I will be calling on speakers in the
11 order that we received your speaker cards. If you
12 wish to make an oral statement this evening, and have
13 not already done so, please fill out a speaker card
14 and turn it into the registration table. If you do
15 not wish to make an oral statement, you may also
16 submit a written statement. Oral and written
17 statements are given equal weight. Persons filing
18 written comments are strongly encouraged to post
19 their comments on the Department of Public Service's
20 or D.P.S.'s document and management or D.M.M. system.

21 To post a comment go to
22 <https://ores.ny.gov>. Click on permit applications,
23 check on the project D.M.M. Matter Number 2100752 and
24 click on post comments in the upper right hand
25 corner. Written comments must be posted on D.M.M. by

1 11/22/2022 - Riverside Solar, L.L.C. - 21-00752
2 5 p.m. on October -- on November 23rd, 2022. Written
3 statements may also be submitted by regular mail or
4 e-mail. Written statements sent by regular mail must
5 be postmarked by November 23rd, 2022 and mailed to
6 the Office of Renewable Energy Siting at the O.G.S.
7 mailroom at the Empire State Plaza, P-1 South J.
8 Dock, that's D-O-C-K, Albany, New York 12242.

9 Written comments sent by e-mail must
10 also be sent by 5 p.m. on November 23rd, 2022 and e-
11 mailed to the same address, General@ores.ny.gov.
12 Comments should refer to the matter number 2100752
13 and Riverside Solar, L.L.C. Finally, if you have any
14 written comments with you this evening, you can
15 submit them to the ORES staff which are at the
16 registration table at front.

17 So with that being said, we'll --
18 we'll start off and we have -- think have four people
19 that like to provide comments. And I will call the
20 first person is Travis Flint. And can you please
21 spell your name before -- before giving your
22 comments?

23 MR. FLINT: Now?

24 A.L.J. FAVREAU: Yes, please.

25 MR. FLINT: T-R-A-V-I-S Flint, F-L-I-

1 11/22/2022 - Riverside Solar, L.L.C. - 21-00752
2 N-T. So I just wanted to talk about a few reasons
3 that I think this project would be beneficial for our
4 area. My name is Travis Flint. I live in the Town
5 of Brownville, and I think some of the benefits of
6 this project would be that the payroll during
7 construction, around \$24 million. They estimate to
8 have 162 workers on site for an estimated payroll
9 around \$287,000, and I know that A.E.S. prioritizes
10 hiring local workers which would help us
11 tremendously.

12 I'm a representative of the I.B.E.W.,
13 International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers for
14 this area, so I can speak on behalf of the
15 electricians. This project would benefit us greatly.
16 When we have projects in this area, our workers, even
17 if they're local, they are introduced to towns that
18 they may not always come to to spend their money. We
19 see what these towns have to offer such as
20 restaurants, grocery stores, gas stations and tourism
21 type stops, so I think that there would be a spinoff
22 from this project and repeated tourism even if it is
23 with local construction workers.

24 As a construction worker, we make our
25 living on these temporary construction projects and

1 11/22/2022 - Riverside Solar, L.L.C. - 21-00752
2 we depend on going from one job to the next no matter
3 how big or small they are. We need to put together a
4 certain amount of hours on every project to earn our
5 health insurance, our retirement and our wages.
6 These temporary construction projects help us to pay
7 our mortgage, pay our taxes and our livelihood in
8 this community. That's all I have. Thank you.

9 A.L.J. FAVREAU: Thank you very much.
10 I'll call the next person. Eric Peters.

11 MR. PETERS: E-R-I-C P-E-T-E-R-S.

12 A.L.J. FAVREAU: Thank you.

13 MR. PETERS: I didn't really come here
14 with a prepared statement to say but just a couple
15 things about the project. I just think that there
16 probably could have been better communication between
17 the -- the company and the people living within the
18 area of the project. I know I haven't received much
19 communication and I'm basically at the intersection
20 of (Case and Beaver Roads) [phonetic spelling]. I
21 have a good viewpoint of the project, the proposed
22 project. And, again, I kind of feel like I've been
23 living in the dark with this. I'm a little
24 disappointed about that.

25 And I own 30 acres and then we -- we

1 11/22/2022 - Riverside Solar, L.L.C. - 21-00752
2 were asked, you know, if we'd like to participate in
3 the project. And, you know, we thought about it and
4 I think just there's more drawbacks than, you know,
5 than -- than advantages, you know, for the -- for the
6 project and whatnot. But just once we said no I just
7 kind of feel like communication hasn't been very
8 good. I've been disappointed with that. You know,
9 that's pretty much it there.

10 Now financially speaking, I'm kind of
11 a little disappointed as well because there's a lot
12 of talk in the community, you know, whereby some
13 people have been offered money for this and some
14 people have been offered money for that, you know,
15 for, you know, can we come up to your boundary or,
16 well, you know, you're going to lose some -- some
17 beautiful trees and stuff. Maybe we'll pay you some
18 money to kind of, you know, make you whole, this and
19 that.

20 I think there's been inconsistencies
21 there maybe. I'm just throwing that out there. And
22 also too, you know, when a -- you have a big project
23 like this, I know it's going to add jobs, which is
24 great. I'm for green energy which is great. Besides
25 the project I don't think it's, you know, in the best

1 11/22/2022 - Riverside Solar, L.L.C. - 21-00752
2 possible place. The whole project. Some of the --
3 the ground that it's going in I think it's -- it's
4 fine, that's all good.

5 But I know that there's a lot of
6 people who live right bordering the project where
7 there's going to be negative ... that they're going
8 to have to deal with as far as potential property
9 value decreases and things like that, you know, that
10 -- that they're going to have to experience. And I
11 think that that's something that, you know, just for
12 the record I think that, you know, that has to be
13 taken into account as well for those in the immediate
14 area.

15 You know, and unfortunately, again, I
16 kind of feel that the communication there hasn't been
17 as good as far as keeping us up to date on, hey what
18 would be good for you, you know, as far as trees
19 here, as far as, you know, viewpoints here that are
20 going to be -- what can we do to help -- help you,
21 okay. So I know the project's going in but what can
22 we do for you. You know, I know you guys are a big
23 outfit and I understand that, but I just, I haven't
24 had a lot of communication there with those, you
25 know, running the project. I think it could have

1 11/22/2022 - Riverside Solar, L.L.C. - 21-00752
2 been a little bit better. So that's it.

3 A.L.J. FAVREAU: Thank you for your
4 comments. The next person is Darren and I'm not sure
5 how to pronounce your last name. Hilts. Is that
6 correct?

7 MS. HILTS: Hilts.

8 A.L.J. FAVREAU: Hilts, okay. Sorry.

9 MS. HILTS: The next one in line.

10 A.L.J. FAVREAU: Okay.

11 MS. HILTS: I'm Maureen Hilts, M-A-U-
12 R-E-E-N H-I-L-T-S. I mean, I have more than one
13 concern. One of mine is, okay, according to
14 Riverside Solar site, tree clearing of the 1,168 acre
15 area facility site has been limited to 82 acres. The
16 fragmentation of forest and habitat will be limited.
17 The facility has been sited to avoid existing
18 hedgerows and vegetative barriers where possible.

19 My concern is what about the 20 plus
20 acre of 100 year old forested area that sits in one
21 of the areas that they -- looks as if they are
22 planning to tear them out and put solar panels there.
23 Like these trees are over 100 years old and it's a
24 beautiful spot. It is in the middle of one of the
25 fields that is in this area. So I guess according to

1 11/22/2022 - Riverside Solar, L.L.C. - 21-00752
2 that it looks as if they're going to tear them out,
3 put solar panels there. This area of trees not only
4 has existed for hundreds of years, it also removes
5 the carbon dioxide from the air, replaces it with
6 oxygen. So it's also helping with our energy there
7 too. And it serves as a wind break in a very, very
8 windy area as do the hedgerows that they are supposed
9 to be leaving -- leaving alone too.

10 I know they don't want trees around to
11 shade their solar panels, but then again, you know.
12 And one of the stipulations requires land be returned
13 to its original state when the future of the solar
14 panels or when solar panels end up being removed in
15 the future, how do they plan on replacing the 100
16 plus or hundreds of year old forested area? I mean,
17 20 acres is a pretty -- doesn't sound much when
18 you're talking about well over 1,000 acres but it
19 really is. And it is a wind break.

20 And once that wind starts blowing
21 across that land there it's wide open with nothing
22 but solar panels they're going to -- going to have
23 issues. And I know it's not a question, answer thing
24 but I was just wondering, I'm hoping that there is
25 somebody to monitor, like from the D.E.C., to monitor

1 11/22/2022 - Riverside Solar, L.L.C. - 21-00752
2 the construction process and the final completed
3 project. That the environment is minimally as
4 affected as is stated in the Riverside site and not
5 encroaching into areas that have been deemed
6 protected.

7 I mean, I know this is going to go
8 through. I really -- I'm a -- I grew up on a farm
9 and I hate seeing this good farmland that has been
10 productive of crops all just covered with solar
11 panels especially with the way things are today in
12 our world with the -- it's a great area for raising
13 wheat. I know this because I was kid growing up on
14 the farm and we harvested grain every year. And now
15 with the world situation the way it is, I'm sorry,
16 just hate to see the good land covered with these
17 when there are so many other places where it seems
18 like they could be put, but. Those are my concerns.

19 But my big one is, you know, I know we
20 have all kinds of forest around this area. We're
21 just covered with wooden areas. But I just hate to
22 see them destroyed when they have been there for so
23 many years. It's not just like scrub -- scrub brush
24 or whatever. That's my concerns.

25 A.L.J. FAVREAU: Thank you very much.

1 11/22/2022 - Riverside Solar, L.L.C. - 21-00752

2 And Darren Hilts?

3 MR. HILTS: I guess it's not necessary
4 now.

5 MS. HILTS: I guess I hit it all.

6 A.L.J. FAVREAU: Okay. Thank you very
7 much. Is there anyone else that wish --?

8 MS. WARD: Right here. My husband
9 would like to -- we're filling this out.

10 A.L.J. FAVREAU: Okay.

11 MR. WARD: I didn't know I wanted to
12 speak, so.

13 A.L.J. FAVREAU: Sure, sure. Come
14 right up to the --

15 MR. WARD: Excuse me for the way I
16 look but I got off --.

17 A.L.J. FAVREAU: Just -- just make
18 sure you spell your name for the court reporter.

19 MR. WARD: Robert Ward, R-O-B-E-R-T W-
20 A-R-D. I also second the gentleman back here. You
21 know, I just -- there's not a lot of communication
22 about this project. And I -- I wonder if people
23 realize that without government subsidy and I know
24 New York State and the federal government were both
25 pushing this that these projects aren't viable. And

1 11/22/2022 - Riverside Solar, L.L.C. - 21-00752
2 I wonder what your thoughts are on that. I don't
3 know if you represent the company. I'm not sure who
4 --.

5 A.L.J. FAVREAU: Right. And
6 unfortunately I -- I -- I can't address, you know.
7 I'm -- I'm the administrative law judge responsible
8 for making rulings in this case. However, there are
9 applicants here and there are ORES staff here that --
10 that can explain anything you like.

11 MR. WARD: Okay. That's my main
12 concern and, you know, to see -- I feel like this
13 area here which is, you know, the land is cheaper
14 than downstate and it's very attractive to these
15 companies. And I feel like we're being taken
16 advantage of. And it is great that we have short
17 term jobs, don't get me wrong, but long term really
18 doesn't represent anything for our community. And I
19 just feel there's better options of energy than solar
20 panels. It's almost like ruining the land to save
21 the world, you know. And that's my concern.

22 Your habitat destruction. I live on
23 the other side of the river and they're proposing one
24 over there which was going to really affect the, you
25 know, price of our homes if we ever wanted to sell

1 11/22/2022 - Riverside Solar, L.L.C. - 21-00752
2 it. There's a lot of downside to this. And if you
3 read about it, if you do your research, there's a lot
4 of issues with these solar panels. Wind, habitat
5 destruction, trees, the whole ...

6 And so I know you can't answer a
7 question but is there a -- I'm going to ask it
8 anyway. What is the setback for these solar panels?

9 A.L.J. FAVREAU: I -- I do apologize.

10 MR. WARD: I'll have to look it up but
11 that's my concern.

12 A.L.J. FAVREAU: And, again, you know,
13 one of the ORES staff here may be able to answer your
14 question offhand.

15 MR. WARD: Okay.

16 A.L.J. FAVREAU: And they're right
17 back there. They're right at the exit sign.

18 MR. WARD: Okay. I'll speak to them
19 on the way out.

20 A.L.J. FAVREAU: Okay. All right.

21 MR. WARD: Thank you.

22 A.L.J. FAVREAU: Thank you.

23 MR. WARD: Appreciate it.

24 A.L.J. FAVREAU: Anyone else that
25 would like to provide a comment at the moment? I

1 11/22/2022 - Riverside Solar, L.L.C. - 21-00752
2 note that it's 6:20. We're going to keep this
3 proceeding open until 6:30 if anyone else does come a
4 little late to provide a comment. So we can go off
5 the record right now, all right.

6 (Off the record 6:20 p.m.)

7 (On the record 6:21 p.m.)

8 A.L.J. FAVREAU: Okay. We're -- we're
9 back on the record and there's a further comment
10 from.

11 MS. HILTS: Maureen Hilts. Want me to
12 spell it again?

13 A.L.J. FAVREAU: No, we're okay.

14 MS. HILTS: Okay. Okay. My other
15 complaint is actually the timing of everything and
16 the communication because that's why there's so few
17 people here tonight I'm sure. The letter was sent
18 out well ahead of time and there were still some
19 people, neighbors, I know who did not receive it.
20 But then when it came to like last week's
21 cancellation, when I went to the site on the paper
22 that told me to, in order to see if anything had been
23 rescheduled, there was nothing there. I did go right
24 to Riverside's site. That's where I found it.

25 So I let other people know, okay, it's

1 11/22/2022 - Riverside Solar, L.L.C. - 21-00752
2 been cancelled for tonight. But then if they had not
3 been checking that site then that was just me
4 checking it and letting everybody know, hey, you
5 know, it's been rescheduled for tonight. So it's
6 just the -- the communication part is bad. And also
7 the fact that they are having this meeting so close
8 to when anything, any written comments have to be in
9 or when if there were any parties who wanted to
10 actually pursue this further has to be in by the 28th
11 of November. That's a little bit on the, you know,
12 pretty closely scheduled. A little too closely I
13 would say and I don't know if that's -- if there's a
14 reason for that or not, but. Anyway that's another
15 one of my concerns. Thank you.

16 A.L.J. FAVREAU: Okay. Thank you.
17 Anyone else like to give further comment? Okay.
18 We'll go off the record for another 10 minutes or so.

19 (Off the record 6:28 p.m.)

20 (On the record 6:30 p.m.)

21 A.L.J. FAVREAU: Does anyone wish to
22 provide any other comments?

23 MR. PETERS: I think we need an
24 extension to provide written comments. I believe
25 they're due --.

1 11/22/2022 - Riverside Solar, L.L.C. - 21-00752

2 A.L.J. FAVREAU: Written comments are
3 due tomorrow.

4 MR. PETERS: Well, can't we have a
5 little more time to do some research? I mean, it's
6 really not fair.

7 A.L.J. FAVREAU: You know, I'm sorry.
8 I'm -- at this time I can't make a -- a decision or
9 ruling on that. But -- but I -- I understand.

10 MR. PETERS: Who can -- who can make
11 the decision?

12 A.L.J. FAVREAU: Well, I'll -- I mean,
13 this is, you know, a comment session and --.

14 MR. PETERS: Well, I mean, people work
15 and you're giving 24 hours for someone to go home, do
16 some research, type up something. It's not ...

17 A.L.J. FAVREAU: Right. Initially
18 this hearing was scheduled for the 17th and it was
19 unfortunate. There was a -- there was -- there was a
20 storm and pursuant to the regulations we have a -- we
21 have a time frame. So -- so the -- the 23rd was a
22 date that was picked pursuant to our regulations
23 based on the 17th being the -- the hearing date.

24 MR. PETERS: So move out the date
25 commensurately to ... the storm. It's only fair.

1 11/22/2022 - Riverside Solar, L.L.C. - 21-00752

2 A.L.J. FAVREAU: I understand. I just
3 don't have the authority to do that, you know. But
4 we look -- you know, we'll take it back and if -- if
5 something does happen it -- it will be posted.

6 MR. PETERS: We only have 24 hours.

7 MS. HILTS: Who -- who has -- who has
8 the authority?

9 MR. PETERS: Who can make that call?

10 A.L.J. FAVREAU: Well, the -- the
11 executive director of ORES is --.

12 MR. PETERS: Is he here?

13 A.L.J. FAVREAU: He's not here.

14 MR. PETERS: So how do we contact?

15 A.L.J. FAVREAU: You can -- you can --
16 you can send an e-mail if you'd like. You can send
17 an e-mail to me which I can forward to him.

18 MR. PETERS: Hopefully, he gets right
19 back to us, right? It's not fair. I mean, a lot of
20 people are uncomfortable speaking in public. This
21 meeting wasn't well communicated. There's many, many
22 people that would have come and it's not fair.

23 A.L.J. FAVREAU: It -- it was noticed
24 pursuant to our regulations.

25 MR. PETERS: What the hell does that

1 11/22/2022 - Riverside Solar, L.L.C. - 21-00752
2 mean?

3 A.L.J. FAVREAU: That means it was
4 given public notice in the newspapers, it was given -
5 - it was given notice to all the residents within a
6 mile of the solar facility. And that -- and that is
7 what our regulations called for. I mean, how -- how
8 much more time would you like?

9 MR. PETERS: Make it commensurate to
10 the time that we lost from the last meeting.

11 MS. HILTS: It just seems in business
12 when you lose a date of the meeting because of a
13 terrible storm, and people have been so busy digging
14 out up here, and are still digging out that
15 automatically it would be good business sense to say
16 we better move the commenting up a week too. That --
17 that goes hand in hand. Do you always give a week
18 between the meeting and the -- and the comments?

19 A.L.J. FAVREAU: Normally it's
20 anywhere from seven to nine days.

21 MS. HILTS: Yeah. So why wasn't -- it
22 was like somebody dropped the ball and didn't finish
23 the task. We had to push this meeting out to next
24 week so we better push the comment section out to
25 next week.

1 11/22/2022 - Riverside Solar, L.L.C. - 21-00752

2 A.L.J. FAVREAU: Again, I understand.

3 I can't make a decision for you right here today and

4 -- and hopefully a decision will be made and if

5 something is changed you -- you will be notified. It

6 will be on our website and on the -- hopefully, on

7 the project website. Okay.

8 So thank you all for speaking and

9 giving your comments and the hearing is adjourned.

10 Thank you.

11 (Off the record 6:38 p.m.)

12 (On the record 6:38 p.m.)

13 A.L.J. FAVREAU: So people I guess are

14 listening to your concerns so I have been given the

15 authority that have -- there have been no objections

16 so written comments -- well, believe -- this is --

17 this is the 21st century so I guess it's been

18 extended to November 28th. Written comments November

19 28th.

20 MR. PETERS: I -- I appreciate that.

21 MS. HILTS: Thank you.

22 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: And we're still

23 on the record, right?

24 A.L.J. FAVREAU: Yes. Oh, yes, we're

25 still on the record.

1 11/22/2022 - Riverside Solar, L.L.C. - 21-00752

2 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: And, again, you
3 know, this is a hearing. The public -- we're
4 concerned everything else.

5 A.L.J. FAVREAU: Before -- if you're
6 going to make a comment though can you just -- yeah.
7 Yeah. Just so it's -- it's on the --.

8 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Absolutely.
9 And -- and, again, about communication and everything
10 else and, you know, feeling -- feeling accepted and
11 everything else, the whole time I was up here talking
12 I felt this guy wanted to kick my ass. Okay. Look
13 at -- yeah you, looking right through me, trying to
14 intimidate me at a public hearing and I'm not happy
15 about that. All right. Talk about communication or
16 lack thereof, all right, I think that was bullshit on
17 your part. Thank you.

18 A.L.J. FAVREAU: Anything else? Any
19 other comments?

20 MS. HILTS: So is this --?

21 A.L.J. FAVREAU: Again, I -- I
22 apologize.

23 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Nothing to
24 apologize for.

25 MS. WARD: Catherine Ward. Do I have

1 11/22/2022 - Riverside Solar, L.L.C. - 21-00752
2 to spell my name?

3 A.L.J. FAVREAU: Yes, do you mind?

4 MS. WARD: C-A-T-H-E-R-I-N-E Ward W-A-
5 R-D. Is this meeting on video so that the rest of us
6 can watch it?

7 A.L.J. FAVREAU: No, it is not on
8 video. But it -- there's a -- there's a
9 transcription being done, which we put on our ORES
10 web, you know, system under this project. So it will
11 be available to the public.

12 MS. WARD: I'm just thinking because
13 probably just a lot of residents don't know how to
14 get to that website. Can it be put on the town's
15 website or the Town of Brownville, the Town of Lyme
16 so that it's more accessible?

17 A.L.J. FAVREAU: We can -- yeah, I
18 mean, we -- we can talk to the applicant to as, you
19 know, they -- they've done that before to -- to put
20 it on the town's websites. But I -- I can't speak
21 for the town but we will do our best to get it on
22 those websites.

23 MS. WARD: I'm just saying it out loud
24 so that whoever hears it.

25 A.L.J. FAVREAU: Yeah.

1 11/22/2022 - Riverside Solar, L.L.C. - 21-00752

2 MS. WARD: All right. Thank you.

3 A.L.J. FAVREAU: Sure.

4 MS. WARD: And I do want to say one
5 more thing. I think restrictions are very, very
6 important for residents because I know that these
7 solar panels are going to go in, you know.
8 Everything is done in the dark to the residents
9 behind our backs and then you get a hearing and you
10 have a chance to make a comment. But all the
11 homework is done, all the footwork is done,
12 everything is already done.

13 So one thing I want to say is setbacks
14 for residents are very important. A 60 foot setback
15 is not enough when you're -- you're here and your
16 house is here. It's not fair. And they have to have
17 bigger setbacks, and I know that there's going to be,
18 you know, beautiful trees or shrubs that are going to
19 be planted. But I've seen those, and I know what
20 they look like and they're nothing.

21 I've driven in areas on trips and have
22 seen what they look like, and they do not mask solar
23 panels for a long time maybe once they're grown.
24 But, I mean, come on. When somebody's house is --
25 they're staring at them it's not right. So setbacks

1 11/22/2022 - Riverside Solar, L.L.C. - 21-00752
2 are very -- I think that's key to make residents
3 happy. You know, I have them -- I don't know if it's
4 1,000 feet but they -- there has to be some sort of
5 setback other than, I don't know what the town zoning
6 is here but. Has to be better than that. That's it.

7 A.L.J. FAVREAU: Thank you. Any --
8 any further comments? Okay. This hearing now is
9 adjourned.

10 (The hearing concluded at 6:34 p.m.)

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

1 11/22/2022 - Riverside Solar, L.L.C. - 21-00752
2 STATE OF NEW YORK
3 I, ANTHONY MCCLAIN, do hereby certify that the foregoing
4 was reported by me, in the cause, at the time and place,
5 as stated in the caption hereto, at Page 1 hereof; that
6 the foregoing typewritten transcription consisting of
7 pages 1 through 26, is a true record of all proceedings
8 had at the hearing.

9 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto
10 subscribed my name, this the 28th day of November, 2022.

11

12 ANTHONY MCCLAIN, Reporter

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

A	
A-R-D 14:20	availability 4:8
A.E.S 7:9	available 4:4 24:11
A.L.J 1:13,14 2:3 6:24 8:9,12	avoid 11:17
11:3,8,10 13:25 14:6,10,13,17	B
15:5 16:9,12,16,20,22,24 17:8	back 14:20 16:17 17:9 20:4,19
17:13 18:16,21 19:2,7,12,17	backs 25:9
20:2,10,13,15,23 21:3,19 22:2	bad 18:6
22:13,24 23:5,18,21 24:3,7,17	ball 21:22
24:25 25:3 26:7	barriers 11:18
able 16:13	based 19:23
Absolutely 23:8	basically 8:19
accepted 23:10	beautiful 9:17 11:24 25:18
accessible 24:16	Beaver 8:20
account 10:13	behalf 7:14
acre 11:14,20	believe 18:24 22:16
acres 8:25 11:15 12:17,18	beneficial 7:3
add 9:23	benefit 7:15
Additionally 3:5 5:7	benefits 7:5
address 6:11 15:6	best 9:25 24:21
adjourned 22:9 26:9	better 8:16 11:2 15:19 21:16,24
adjudicatory 3:13	26:6
administrative 2:14 15:7	big 8:3 9:22 10:22 13:19
advantage 15:16	bigger 25:17
advantages 9:5	bit 11:2 18:11
affect 15:24	blowing 12:20
agencies 4:24	bordering 10:6
ahead 17:18	Boulevard 1:11
air 12:5	boundary 9:15
Albany 6:8	break 12:7,19
amount 8:4	Brotherhood 7:13
answer 5:6,8 12:23 16:6,13	Brown 1:11
Anthony 1:23 27:3,12	Brownville 1:6,10,12 2:11,19,19
anyway 16:8 18:14	3:25 7:5 24:15
apologize 16:9 23:22,24	brush 13:23
applicant 5:8 24:18	bullshit 23:16
applicants 15:9	business 21:11,15
application 2:5 3:20 4:2,19,21	busy 21:13
applications 3:14 4:6 5:22	C
appreciate 16:23 22:20	C-A-T-H-E-R-I-N-E 24:4
area 2:25 7:4,14,16 8:18 10:14	call 2:4 6:19 8:10 20:9
11:15,20,25 12:3,8,16 13:12	called 21:7
13:20 15:13	calling 5:10
areas 11:21 13:5,21 25:21	cancellation 17:21
asked 9:2	cancelled 18:2
ass 23:12	caption 27:5
attractive 15:14	carbon 12:5
authority 20:3,8 22:15	card 5:13
automatically 21:15	cards 5:11

case 8:20 15:8
Catherine 23:25
cause 27:4
century 22:17
certain 8:4
certify 27:3
chance 25:10
changed 22:5
cheaper 15:13
check 5:23
checking 18:3,4
clearing 11:14
click 5:22,24
close 18:7
closely 18:12,12
combined 4:7,12,17
come 7:18 8:13 9:15 14:13 17:3
 20:22 25:24
commenced 2:2
commencement 4:10
commensurate 21:9
commensurately 19:25
comment 2:17,21,25 3:19 4:9,9
 5:21 16:25 17:4,9 18:17 19:13
 21:24 23:6 25:10
commenting 21:16
comments 5:7,18,19,24,25 6:9,12
 6:14,19,22 11:4 18:8,22,24
 19:2 21:18 22:9,16,18 23:19
 26:8
communicated 20:21
communication 8:16,19 9:7 10:16
 10:24 14:21 17:16 18:6 23:9
 23:15
community 8:8 9:12 15:18
companies 15:15
company 8:17 15:3
complaint 17:15
completed 13:2
concern 11:13,19 15:12,21 16:11
concerned 23:4
concerns 13:18,24 18:15 22:14
concluded 26:10
conditions 4:8
conduct 3:17
conducting 3:13
consisting 27:6
construct 2:9 3:23
construction 7:7,23,24,25 8:6
 13:2

contact 20:14
contacting 4:6
copies 4:2,19
corner 5:25
corporations 4:23
correct 11:6
counsel's 3:16
County 1:6 2:11 3:25
couple 8:14
court 14:18
covered 13:10,16,21
crops 13:10
cross 5:5

D

D-O-C-K 6:8
D.E.C 12:25
D.M.M 2:4 5:20,23,25
D.P.S.'s 5:20
Daily 3:6 4:13
dark 8:23 25:8
Darren 11:4 14:2
date 1:9 2:12 10:17 19:22,23,24
 21:12
day 27:10
days 21:20
deal 10:8
decision 19:8,11 22:3,4
decommission 2:9 3:24
decreases 10:9
deemed 13:5
Department 1:10 2:19 5:19
depend 8:2
design 2:8 3:23
destroyed 13:22
destruction 15:22 16:5
determination 4:10
develop 2:8 3:23
digging 21:13,14
dioxide 12:5
director 20:11
disappointed 8:24 9:8,11
Dock 6:8
DOCKET 1:4
document 5:20
documents 4:3
downside 16:2
downstate 15:14
draft 1:4 4:3,8
drawbacks 9:4

25:18
good 8:21 9:8 10:4,17,18 13:9
 13:16 21:15
government 4:23 14:23,24
grain 13:14
great 9:24,24 13:12 15:16
greatly 7:15
green 9:24
grew 13:8
grocery 7:20
ground 10:3
growing 13:13
grown 25:23
guess 11:25 14:3,5 22:13,17
guy 23:12
guys 10:22

H

H-I-L-T-S 11:12
habitat 11:16 15:22 16:4
hand 5:24 21:17,17
happen 20:5
happy 23:14 26:3
harvested 13:14
hate 13:9,16,21
health 8:5
hear 5:7
hearing 1:8 2:2,17,21,25 3:2,19
 4:9 19:18,23 22:9 23:3,14
 25:9 26:8,10 27:8
hearings 2:16 3:11,15,17,18
hears 24:24
hedgerows 11:18 12:8
held 2:18
hell 20:25
help 7:10 8:6 10:20,20
helping 12:6
HENRY 1:14
hereof 27:5
hereto 27:5
hereunto 27:9
hey 10:17 18:4
Hilts 11:5,7,7,8,9,11,11 14:2,3
 14:5 17:11,11,14 20:7 21:11
 21:21 22:21 23:20
hiring 7:10
hit 14:5
home 19:15
homes 15:25
homework 25:11

hopefully 20:18 22:4,6
hoping 12:24
hours 8:4 19:15 20:6
house 25:16,24
https://ores.ny.gov 5:22
https://www.ores.ny.gov/permit
 4:5
hundreds 12:4,16
husband 14:8

I

I.B.E.W 7:12
immediate 10:13
impartial 3:12
important 25:6,14
including 4:3
inconsistencies 9:20
incorporated 5:2
independent 3:12
initially 2:22 3:11 19:17
input 3:19
insurance 8:5
interested 4:22
International 7:13
intersection 8:19
intimidate 23:14
introduced 7:17
invited 4:24
Island 3:7 4:14
issued 1:6 2:24
issues 4:10 12:23 16:4

J

J 6:7
JAMES 1:14
Jefferson 1:6 2:11 3:25
job 8:2
jobs 9:23 15:17
John 1:13 2:13
JOSEPH 1:14
judge 2:14 15:7

K

keep 17:2
keeping 10:17
key 26:2
kick 23:12
kid 13:13
kind 8:22 9:7,10,18 10:16
kinds 13:20

know 7:9 8:18 9:2,3,4,5,8,12,14
9:15,16,18,22,23,25 10:5,9,11
10:12,15,18,19,21,22,22,25
12:10,11,23 13:7,13,19,19
14:11,21,23 15:3,6,12,13,21
15:25 16:6,12 17:19,25 18:4,5
18:11,13 19:7,13 20:3,4 23:3
23:10 24:10,13,19 25:6,7,17
25:18,19 26:3,3,5

L

L.L.C 1:1,7 2:1,6 3:1,20 4:1
5:1 6:1,13 7:1 8:1 9:1 10:1
11:1 12:1 13:1 14:1 15:1 16:1
17:1 18:1 19:1 20:1 21:1 22:1
23:1 24:1 25:1 26:1 27:1

lack 23:16

lake 2:23

land 12:12,21 13:16 15:13,20

late 17:4

law 2:8,14 3:22 15:7

leaving 12:9,9

letter 17:17

letting 18:4

limited 11:15,16

line 11:9

list 4:18

listening 22:14

little 8:23 9:11 11:2 17:4
18:11,12 19:5

live 7:4 10:6 15:22

livelihood 8:7

living 7:25 8:17,23

local 7:10,17,23

located 2:10 3:25

location 1:10 3:3

long 15:17 25:23

look 14:16 16:10 20:4 23:12
25:20,22

looking 23:13

looks 11:21 12:2

lose 9:16 21:12

lost 21:10

lot 9:11 10:5,24 14:21 16:2,3
20:19 24:13

loud 24:23

Lyme 1:5 2:10 3:5,25 24:15

M

M-A-U- 11:11

mail 3:8 6:3,4

mailed 6:5,11

mailings 3:8

mailroom 6:7

main 15:11

maintain 2:9 3:23

major 1:5 2:6 3:21

making 15:8

management 5:20

mask 25:22

materials 4:2

matter 2:4 5:23 6:12 8:2

Maureen 11:11 17:11

McClain 1:23 27:3,12

mean 11:12 12:16 13:7 19:5,12
19:14 20:19 21:2,7 24:18
25:24

means 21:3

meeting 18:7 20:21 21:10,12,18
21:23 24:5

megawatt 2:10 3:24

middle 11:24

mile 21:6

million 7:7

mind 24:3

mine 11:13

minimally 13:3

minutes 18:18

moment 16:25

money 7:18 9:13,14,18

monitor 12:25,25

mortgage 8:7

move 19:24 21:16

N

N-T 7:2

N.Y.C.R.R 4:22

N.Y.R.C.C 4:20

name 2:13 6:21 7:4 11:5 14:18
24:2 27:10

necessary 14:3

need 8:3 18:23

negative 10:7

neighbors 17:19

New 1:2,12 2:7,14,19 4:15 6:8
14:24 27:2

News 3:6

newspapers 21:4

nine 21:20

Normally 21:19

Northern 4:15
note 17:2
notice 3:2, 5, 9 4:7, 12, 17, 21
 21:4, 5
noticed 2:22 20:23
notified 22:5
November 1:9 2:12, 18, 23 3:3, 6, 7
 3:8 6:2, 5, 10 18:11 22:18, 18
 27:10
number 2:5 5:23 6:12

O

O-R-E-S 2:16
O.G.S 6:6
oath 5:4
objections 22:15
October 4:13, 14, 15 6:2
offer 7:19
offered 9:13, 14
offhand 16:14
office 1:3 2:15, 16 3:11, 12, 15
 3:15, 16, 17 4:6 6:6
office's 4:3, 4, 11
official 5:3
Oh 22:24
okay 10:21 11:8, 10, 13 14:6, 10
 15:11 16:15, 18, 20 17:8, 13, 14
 17:14, 25 18:16, 17 22:7 23:12
 26:8
old 11:20, 23 12:16
once 9:6 12:20 25:23
open 12:21 17:3
operate 2:9 3:23
opportunity 5:6
options 15:19
oral 4:24, 25 5:12, 15, 16
order 5:11 17:22
ORES 1:4 2:4, 15 3:4, 10, 11, 12, 16
 5:7 6:15 15:9 16:13 20:11
 24:9
organizations 4:23
original 12:13
outfit 10:23
oxygen 12:6

P

P-1 6:7
P-E-T-E-R-S 8:11
p.m 1:9 2:2, 13, 18 6:2, 10 17:6, 7
 18:19, 20 22:11, 12 26:10

Page 27:5
pages 27:7
panels 11:22 12:3, 11, 14, 14, 22
 13:11 15:20 16:4, 8 25:7, 23
paper 17:21
part 18:6 23:17
participate 9:2
parties 18:9
party 4:18
pay 8:6, 7 9:17
payroll 7:6, 8
Penny 4:15
people 6:18 8:17 9:13, 14 10:6
 14:22 17:17, 19, 25 19:14 20:20
 20:22 21:13 22:13
period 4:9
permit 1:4 2:6 3:14, 21 4:4, 8
 5:22
person 6:20 8:10 11:4
persons 3:9 4:18, 21, 23 5:17
Peters 8:10, 11, 13 18:23 19:4, 10
 19:14, 24 20:6, 9, 12, 14, 18, 25
 21:9 22:20
phonetic 8:20
picked 19:22
place 10:2 27:4
places 13:17
plan 12:15
planning 11:22
planted 25:19
Plaza 6:7
please 5:13 6:20, 24
plus 11:19 12:16
possible 10:2 11:18
post 5:18, 21, 24
posted 3:3 5:25 20:5
postmarked 6:5
postponed 2:25
potential 10:8
prepared 8:14
present 5:8
presiding 2:17
pretty 9:9 12:17 18:12
price 15:25
prioritizes 7:9
probably 8:16 24:13
procedures 4:10
proceeding 4:18 5:3 17:3
proceedings 3:14 27:7
process 13:2

productive 13:10
project 3:4 5:23 7:3,6,15,22
 8:4,15,18,21,22 9:3,6,22,25
 10:2,6,25 13:3 14:22 22:7
 24:10
project's 10:21
projects 7:16,25 8:6 14:25
pronounce 11:5
property 10:8
proposed 8:21
proposing 15:23
protected 13:6
provide 6:19 16:25 17:4 18:22
 18:24
public 1:8 2:17,21 3:2,18,19
 4:8,9 5:2,19 20:20 21:4 23:3
 23:14 24:11
published 3:6 4:11,12
purpose 3:17,18 4:25
pursuant 2:7 3:10,22 4:20,22
 19:20,22 20:24
pursue 18:10
push 21:23,24
pushing 14:25
put 8:3 11:22 12:3 13:18 24:9
 24:14,19

Q

question 5:6 12:23 16:7,14
questions 5:8

R

R-D 24:5
R-E-E-N 11:12
R-O-B-E-R-T 14:19
raising 13:12
read 16:3
realize 14:23
really 8:13 12:19 13:8 15:17,24
 19:6
reason 18:14
reasons 7:2
receive 3:9 4:19,21 17:19
received 5:11 8:18
record 2:4 5:3 10:12 17:5,6,7,9
 18:18,19,20 22:11,12,23,25
 27:7
refer 6:12
registration 5:14 6:16
regular 6:3,4

Regulation 4:20
regulations 3:10 19:20,22 20:24
 21:7
removed 12:14
removes 12:4
renewable 1:3,5 2:6,15 3:21 6:6
repeated 7:22
replaces 12:5
replacing 12:15
reported 1:23 27:4
reporter 14:18 27:12
represent 15:3,18
representative 7:12
required 3:9 4:19,21
requires 12:12
rescheduled 3:2 17:23 18:5
research 16:3 19:5,16
residents 21:5 24:13 25:6,8,14
 26:2
responsible 3:13 15:7
rest 24:5
restaurants 7:20
restrictions 25:5
retirement 8:5
returned 12:12
right 5:24 10:6 14:8,14 15:5
 16:16,17,20 17:5,5,23 19:17
 20:18,19 22:3,23 23:13,15,16
 25:2,25
righty 2:3
river 15:23
Riverside 1:1,7 2:1,5 3:1,20
 4:1 5:1 6:1,13 7:1 8:1 9:1
 10:1 11:1,14 12:1 13:1,4 14:1
 15:1 16:1 17:1 18:1 19:1 20:1
 21:1 22:1 23:1 24:1 25:1 26:1
 27:1
Riverside's 17:24
Roads 8:20
Robert 14:19
ruining 15:20
ruling 19:9
rulings 15:8
running 10:25

S

save 15:20
Saver 4:15
saying 24:23
scheduled 2:22 18:12 19:18

scrub 13:23,23	speakers 5:10
second 14:20	speaking 9:10 20:20 22:8
section 2:7 3:22 21:24	spell 6:21 14:18 17:12 24:2
see 7:19 13:16,22 15:12 17:22	spelling 8:20
seeing 13:9	spend 7:18
seen 25:19,22	spinoff 7:21
sell 15:25	spot 11:24
send 20:16,16	staff 3:16 5:7 6:15 15:9 16:13
sense 21:15	staring 25:25
sent 3:8 6:4,9,10 17:17	stars 12:20
separate 3:15	start 6:18
September 4:11	state 1:2 2:8,15,24 6:7 12:13 14:24 27:2
served 4:17	stated 13:4 27:5
serves 12:7	statement 1:8 5:12,15,16 8:14
Service's 5:19	statements 4:25 5:2,4,17 6:3,4
session 5:6 19:13	stations 7:20
setback 16:8 25:14 26:5	stipulations 12:12
setbacks 25:13,17,25	stops 7:21
seven 21:20	stores 7:20
severe 2:23	storm 19:20,25 21:13
shade 12:11	strongly 5:18
short 15:16	stuff 9:17
shrubs 25:18	submit 4:24 5:16 6:15
side 15:23	submitted 6:3
sign 16:17	subscribed 27:10
site 7:8 11:14,15 13:4 17:21,24 18:3	subsidy 14:23
sited 11:17	Sun 3:7 4:14
siting 1:3 2:6,15 3:14,21 4:4 6:6	supposed 12:8
sits 11:20	sure 11:4 14:13,13,18 15:3 17:17 25:3
situation 13:15	system 5:20 24:10
small 8:3	
snowstorm 2:24	T
solar 1:1,7 2:1,5,10 3:1,20,24 4:1 5:1 6:1,13 7:1 8:1 9:1 10:1 11:1,14,22 12:1,3,11,13 12:14,22 13:1,10 14:1 15:1,19 16:1,4,8 17:1 18:1 19:1 20:1 21:1,6 22:1 23:1 24:1 25:1,7 25:22 26:1 27:1	T-R-A-V-I-S 6:25
solicit 3:19	table 5:14 6:16
somebody 12:25 21:22	take 4:25 20:4
somebody's 25:24	taken 10:13 15:15
sorry 11:8 13:15 19:7	talk 7:2 9:12 23:15 24:18
sort 26:4	talking 12:18 23:11
sound 12:17	task 21:23
South 6:7	taxes 8:7
speak 7:14 14:12 16:18 24:20	tear 11:22 12:2
speaker 5:11,13 22:22 23:2,8,23	technical 3:16
	temporary 7:25 8:6
	term 15:17,17
	terrible 21:13
	thank 8:8,9,12 11:3 13:25 14:6 16:21,22 18:15,16 22:8,10,21 23:17 25:2 26:7

thereof 23:16	viewpoint 8:21
thing 12:23 25:5,13	viewpoints 10:19
things 8:15 10:9 13:11	
think 6:18 7:3,5,21 8:15 9:4,20 9:25 10:3,11,12,25 18:23 23:16 25:5 26:2	
thinking 24:12	
thought 9:3	
thoughts 15:2	
Thousand 3:7 4:14	
throwing 9:21	
Thursday 2:22	
time 17:18 19:5,8,21 21:8,10 23:11 25:23 27:4	
Times 4:13	
timing 17:15	
today 2:12 3:2 4:25 13:11 22:3	
told 17:22	
tomorrow 19:3	
tonight 17:17 18:2,5	
tourism 7:20,22	
town 3:5 7:4 24:15,15,21 26:5	
town's 24:14,20	
towns 1:5 2:10 7:17,19	
transcription 24:9 27:6	
Travis 6:20 7:4	
tree 11:14	
trees 9:17 10:18 11:23 12:3,10 16:5 25:18	
tremendously 7:11	
trips 25:21	
true 27:7	
trying 23:13	
turn 5:14	
type 7:21 19:16	
typewritten 27:6	
U	
uncomfortable 20:20	
understand 10:23 19:9 20:2 22:2	
unfortunate 19:19	
unfortunately 10:15 15:6	
UNIDENTIFIED 22:22 23:2,8,23	
upper 5:24	
V	
value 10:9	
vegetative 11:18	
viable 14:25	
video 24:5,8	
	W
	W- 14:19
	W-A- 24:4
	wages 8:5
	want 12:10 17:11 25:4,13
	wanted 7:2 14:11 15:25 18:9 23:12
	Ward 14:8,11,15,19,19 15:11 16:10,15,18,21,23 23:25,25 24:4,4,12,23 25:2,4
	wasn't 20:21 21:21
	watch 24:6
	Watertown 3:6 4:13,15
	way 13:11,15 14:15 16:19
	we'll 6:17,18 9:17 18:18 20:4
	we're 2:3 13:20 14:9 15:15 17:2 17:8,8,13 22:22,24 23:3
	web 24:10
	website 3:4,4,5 4:4,11 22:6,7 24:14,15
	websites 24:20,22
	week 21:16,17,24,25
	week's 17:20
	weight 5:17
	went 17:21
	whatnot 9:6
	wheat 13:13
	WHEREOF 27:9
	wide 12:21
	wind 12:7,19,20 16:4
	windy 12:8
	wish 5:12,15 14:7 18:21
	WITNESS 27:9
	wonder 14:22 15:2
	wondering 12:24
	wooden 13:21
	work 19:14
	worker 7:24
	workers 7:8,10,13,16,23
	world 13:12,15 15:21
	written 4:24 5:16,16,18,25 6:2 6:4,9,14 18:8,24 19:2 22:16 22:18
	wrong 15:17
	X

Y	287,000 7:9
yeah 21:21 23:6,7,13 24:17,25	28th 18:10 22:18,19 27:10
year 11:20 12:16 13:14	3
years 11:23 12:4 13:23	30 8:25
York 1:2,12 2:8,14,20 4:15 6:8 14:24 27:2	4
Z	5
zoning 26:5	5 6:2,10
0	6
1	6 2:18
1 27:5,7	6:00 1:9 2:2
1,000 12:18 26:4	6:01 2:13
1,168 11:14	6:20 17:2,6
10 18:18	6:21 17:7
100 2:9 3:24 11:20,23 12:15	6:28 18:19
11/22/2022 1:1 2:1 3:1 4:1 5:1 6:1 7:1 8:1 9:1 10:1 11:1 12:1 13:1 14:1 15:1 16:1 17:1 18:1 19:1 20:1 21:1 22:1 23:1 24:1 25:1 26:1 27:1	6:30 17:3 18:20
11th 4:13	6:34 26:10
121 1:11	6:38 22:11,12
12242 6:8	60 25:14
12th 4:12,14	7
14th 4:16	8
162 7:8	82 11:15
17th 2:23 3:3 19:18,23	9
18th 3:8	900-1.6A 4:20
19 4:20,22	900-1.6C 4:22
2	94C 2:7 3:22
20 11:19 12:17	
2022 1:9 2:12,18 4:12,13 6:2,5 6:10 27:10	
21-00752 1:1,4 2:1 3:1 4:1 5:1 6:1 7:1 8:1 9:1 10:1 11:1 12:1 13:1 14:1 15:1 16:1 17:1 18:1 19:1 20:1 21:1 22:1 23:1 24:1 25:1 26:1 27:1	
2100752 2:5 5:23 6:12	
21st 3:7 22:17	
22 1:9	
22nd 2:12,18 3:7	
23rd 6:2,5,10 19:21	
24 7:7 19:15 20:6	
26 27:7	